Filed 07-08-2022

Page 1 of 22

FILED 07-08-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

Appeal No. 2021AP002186

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff - Respondent,

v.

JAY G JACOMET,

Defendant - Appellant.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT – APPELLANT

APPEAL FROM THE ORDER ENTERED ON NOVEMBER 30, 2021 IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF WAUKESHA COUNTY The Honorable Brad M. Schimel, Presiding Trial Court Case No. 2021CT001165

Respectfully Submitted:

PRAKTESS LLC POB 546 Brookfield, WI 53005 (414) 975-5686

By: Michael F. Torphy State Bar No. 1019572 Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. WHETHER THE DEFENDANT-APPELLANT WAS WITHIN THE CURTILAGE OF THE HOME.

The trial court answered: No.

II. WHETHER THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT PRESENTED SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO ESTABLISH PROBABLE CAUSE THAT THE POLICE MAY ENTER THE CURTILAGE OF THE HOME IN PURSUIT OF A MISDEMEANANT, WITHOUT A WARRANT.

The trial court answered: Yes.

V

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

The appellant believes it is possible the Court's opinion in this case may meet the criteria for publication insofar as it may resolve a conflict between Wisconsin and Federal precedent.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

The appellant does not request oral argument insofar as the briefs should sufficiently explicate the facts and law necessary for this Court to issue its decision.

vi

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 10, 2020, the plaintiff-respondent, State of Wisconsin, issued a criminal complaint against the defendantappellant, Jay G. Jacomet. On April 30, 2021, Jacomet filed a Motion to Suppress Evidence. On July 29, 2021, the trial court held a hearing on the motion and denied the defendant's motion to suppress. On October 11, 2021, Jacomet filed a Motion for Reconsideration. On November 1, 2021, the court reviewed video evidence and heard additional testimony from the arresting officer. The court found the officer did not violate Jacomet's expectation of privacy and that the officer's actions were reasonable.

On November 22, 2021, Jacomet filed a motion to suppress statements, the circuit court elected to hear the motion on the date set for trial. On November 30, 2021, the date set for trial, the Court did hear Jacomet's motion to suppress statements and did review video evidence. The Court denied Jacomet's motion to suppress statements. Out of options, Jacomet changed his plea and accepted the sentence of the Court. This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On November 6, 2020, Village of Summit Police Captain, Steven Schroeder, was patrolling the area of Summit, Wisconsin when he received a call from police dispatch concerning and alleged erratic driver. The caller identified himself by name and phone number to the dispatcher and described the vehicle as a white Cadillac SUV. The caller further identified where the car drove.

The caller further described the driver of the car as a male but did not offer further description. The dispatcher relayed this information to Schroeder who travelled to the area identified by the caller. Schroeder stopped at the identified address and noted that it was a driveway which was bordered by Waterville Lake on both sides. Schroeder noticed no trespassing signs on either side of the driveway, but no gate. Schroeder then traveled down a private drive shared by two residences, without knowledge or information as to which residence if any the alleged drunk driver had entered. The driveway is approximately 150 meters in length.

When he arrived at a home on an island in the middle of Waterville Lake, he saw a man standing the open garage door of the home. Schroeder exited his squad and called to the man – Jacomet. Schroeder began questioning Jacomet without knowledge of the description of the driver or any identifying information other than the description of the vehicle.

At no point did Schroeder observe the driver exit the vehicle. Other than the general description he had been given by dispatch of the vehicle, Schroeder had no idea what the alleged driver of the SUV looked like.

Schroeder did observe Jacomet inside the garage and asked him to come out. Upon seeing Jacomet, Schroeder required Jacomet answer questions concerning his actions earlier in the evening and ultimately demanded he exit the garage and perform filed sobriety testing and arrested him. At no point, did Schroeder have a warrant to enter the property nor did the situation provide for Schroeder to witness the alleged erratic driving himself.

At no point prior to the warrantless entry to the property, did Schroeder confirm that the citizen witness never lost visual contact with the SUV they had been following. At no point prior to requiring Jacomet to perform field sobriety tests did Schroeder confirm that Jacomet had not been drinking after he was driving. While speaking with Jacomet, Schroeder was, at two different moments inside the garage of the home.

Jacomet had relied upon the trial court concluding that the particular facts and circumstances of the case would require the court to find the length and nature of the driveway did create in Jacomet a reasonable expectation of privacy. The Court disagreed. Jacomet argued that the area of the garage and just in front of the garage, in this specific case did fall within the definition of curtilage. The Court disagreed. Jacomet argued that as he was within the curtilage, the State would have a higher burden to show the State had probable cause. The Court disagreed.

The trial court relied entirely on evidence obtained from Schroeder's testimony (Appendix B) and the squad video taken by Schroeder. (Appendix E)

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING JACOMET WAS NOT WITHIN THE CURTILAGE OF THE HOME AND THUS ENTITLED TO A REASONABLE EXPECTATION OF PRIVACY WHICH IN TURN WOULD REQUIRE A WARRANT PRIOR TO ENTRY UPON THE LAND.

A. THE AREA OF THE SEARCH FALLS WITHIN THE CURTILAGE OF THE HOME.

Jacomet was up a driveway approximately 150 meters in length, at night and produced only a featureless silhouette for the officer to identify prior to entering private property well marked with no trespassing signs.

Whether a police officer's conduct violates the fourth amendment prohibition on unreasonable searches and seizures is a question of law the court reviews without deference to the trial court. *State v. Woods*, 117 Wis. 2d 701, 712, 345 N.W.2d 457, 463 (1984). The exclusionary rule applies only to evidence seized as the result of an illegal search or seizure. *Segura v. United States*, 468 U.S. 796, 804, 806 (1984). This Court must first determine whether there was a search within the meaning of the fourth amendment. *See State v. Whitrock*, 161 Wis. 2d 960, 970-71, 468 N.W.2d 696, 700 (1991). A search occurs when the police infringe on an expectation of privacy that society considers reasonable. *United States v. Jacobsen*, 466 U.S. 109, 113 (1984).

If there is no such infringement, there is no search. *Illinois v. Andreas*, 463 U.S. 765, 771 (1983). Thus, under the plain view doctrine: "[O]bjects falling within the plain view of an officer who has a right to be in the position to have the view are subject to valid seizure and may be introduced in evidence." *State v. Bell*, 62 Wis. 2d 534, 540, 215 N.W.2d 535, 539 (1974) (citations omitted).

The trial court did find that because Jacomet was a welcome guest at his parent's home he had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the house. (Appendix C, p76 L13-15) In spite of this finding, the Court concluded that the officer would be free to drive up the driveway to get a better view.

It was clear from the Officer's testimony that he could not even identify the gender of the person he had seen from the public road, nor even see the vehicle identified by the 911 caller. From that viewpoint could hardly be claimed "plain view." It is only after the warrantless entry to the property, the long drive up the unlit road, that the officer begins to accumulate relevant information. That entry should be recognized for what it was – an entry into the curtilage of the home and a breach of the defendant-appellant's Fourth Amendment rights. The search after entry should have been suppressed.

B. NO EXIGENT CIRCUMSTANCES EXISTED AT THE TIME OF THE WARRANTLESS ENTRY WHICH JUSTIFY THAT ENTRY WITHOUT A WARRANT

Each investigatory situation presents police with unique specific facts which must be reconciled against the law and their admissibility.

The question is whether the officer had prior justification for his presence or, in other words, had a right to be where he was. The officer's right to be in the place where the view occurs is fundamental to the validity of what follows. *State v. McGovern*, 77 Wis. 2d 203, 211, 252 N.W.2d 365, 369 (1977).

Officer Schroeder did enter into private property without a warrant and, after driving a football field and half, was finally in a position to collect basic information such as the actual make and plate number of the vehicle identified by the 911 caller. This in turn led to Officer Schroeder asking to speak with Jacomet and in a specific factual dispute caught on the squad video, enter the garage to speak with Jacomet. The speaking with Jacomet led to an identification of signs of intoxication. Those signs were the first witnessed specifically by Officer Schroeder which in any way corroborated the 911 caller.

The trial court made the specific point of the timeline and noted that the compactness of it was key to the court's conclusion that this was the "right place, the right vehicle and ultimately the right person." (Appendix B p52, L2-4). This is an incorrect application of the law. The officer did reach the conclusion, that he had the right person, only after violating the 4th Amendment.

An officer may make a warrantless entry when "the exigencies of the situation," considered in a case-specific way, create "a compelling need for official action and no time to secure a warrant." *Kentucky v. King*, 563 U. S. 452, 460 (2011); *Missouri v. McNeely*, 569 U. S. 141, 149 (2013).

The Court has found that such exigencies may exist when an officer must act to prevent imminent injury, the destruction of evidence, or a suspect's escape. *Lange v. California*, 579 U.S. 486, 141 S. Ct. 2011 (2021). "The Court has held that when a minor offense (and no flight) is involved, police officers do not usually face the kind of emergency that can justify a warrantless home entry. *See Welsh v. Wisconsin*, 466 U. S. 740, 742–743." *Id at 487*.

The officer here was pursuing a suspected intoxicated driver, who was no longer driving. There was no accident or injury. There was not even an indication of what number violation might be occurring – in this case a third offense. Nothing more was available to the officer at the time he entered onto private property and headed down the driveway which might give rise to any kind of exigency.

C. THE OFFICER VIOLATED THE CURTILAGE OF THE HOME AND DID AFFECT A *TERRY* STOP WITHOUT SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO ESTABLISH THAT THE OFFICERS HAD REASONABLE SUSPICION THAT A CRIME WAS BEING COMMITTED

The legality of stops and searches has been progressively refined by courts following from the original decision in *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1 (1968). The Supreme Court's holding in *Terry* was codified in Wisconsin by Wis. Stats. §968.24, which provides "a law enforcement officer may stop a person in a public place for a reasonable period of time when the officer reasonably suspects that such person is committing, is about to commit or has committed a crime."

Additionally, officers may detain and investigate an individual if they reasonably suspect an individual has violated, is violating or is about to violate an ordinance. *State v. Bennett*, 178 Wis.2d 878, 506 N.W.2d 427 (Ct. App. 1993) (unpublished).

The plaintiff-respondent has the burden of establishing probable cause at the hearing of the defendant-appellant's motion to suppress, but the majority of the evidence advanced by the plaintiffrespondent at the motion hearing was obtained by the arresting officers after they approached Jacomet's home and car and stopped and detained him, not before. The trial court's finding of probable cause erroneously used the sole fact of a citizen driver witnessing erratic driving.

In its ruling the Court did make specific reference to the character of the driveway, shared by two separate homeowners, having no expectation of privacy. (Appendix B, P47, L 7-9). The Court highlighted this conclusion by comparing the shared drive to Waterville Road and "open to the public." Ultimately, the Court reached an even more expansive conclusion that "Everything across the isthmus is fair game for anyone." (Appendix B, P47, L 10-11). In fact, the testifying officer, Captain Steven Schroeder filmed not one but two "No Trespassing" signs at the end of the driveway. (Appendix E, at time 3:03-3:10).

That video is persuasive regarding the visibility of anyone at or near the home on the other side of the isthmus. (Appendix E, at time 3:10-3:29). It was frankly impossible to identify even the gender or height of the person seen by Officer Schroeder.

While the audio is turned off at that point, the video does confirm direction and the movements of both Mr. Jacomet and Officer Schroeder, and the fall of Officer Schroeder's light upon the driveway certainly appear to indicate the Officer did order Mr. Jacomet out of the garage. (Appendix E, at time 3:29 - 4:00).

It is only upon actually asking Jacomet if he owns the SUV identified by the 911 caller, that officer Schroeder learns anything at all which ties Jacomet to operating the alleged vehicle. Up to that moment, Officer Schroeder had not collected any other information, from dispatch, or otherwise, about the suspect driver other than that the driver was male and the vehicle driven was a white SUV with a plate number. The plate number is not visible from the squad at any time. (Appendix E, at time 0:01-5:00).

Here, the record overwhelmingly demonstrates the officers did not have probable cause to enter onto the property without a warrant. The testimony given at the motion hearing strongly suggests the arresting officers in this case conducted a textbook *Terry* stop.

D. **PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT** THE DID NOT PRESENT SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO WAS **ESTABLISH** THAT THERE A **CONSENSUAL** ENCOUNTER BETWEEN **JACOMET AND OFFICER SCHROEDER**

Officer Schroeder approached Jacomet's vehicle, immediately identified himself as a police officer, asked for identification, instructed Jacomet to come outside and asked a series of investigative questions. The plaintiff-respondent had the burden of providing sufficient evidence at the motion hearing to establish that the officers had reasonable suspicion to justify their assertion of control.

Lacking reasonable suspicion to justify stopping Jacomet, the plaintiff-respondent had the burden of providing sufficient evidence establishing that there was a consensual encounter between the officers and Jacomet, which would require establishing that a reasonable person in Jacomet's situation would believe they were free to decline to answer the officers' questions and free to leave the scene.

The evidence shows that Jacomet was not free to leave the scene as he had already been instructed by Officer Schroeder to exit the garage (Appendix B, P24, L1-9) and walked around him blocking his reentry to the house. (Appendix E, at time 4:00 to 5:00). The encounter was not consensual.

E. WHETHER A STOP MEETS STATUTORY AND CONSTITUTIONAL STANDARDS ARE QUESTIONS OF LAW REVIEWED DE NOVO.

The officers did not have the authority to approach Jacomet's vehicle and stop and detain him. Such authority would have to be justified in one of three ways.

First, before approaching the vehicle, the officers had probable cause to seize and arrest Jacomet.

Second, the officers had reasonable suspicion that Jacomet committed, was committing or was about to commit a crime or violation of an ordinance, which would justify a stop under Wis. Stats. §968.24. Third, the officers could have begun a consensual encounter with Jacomet.

The trial court never made any determination as to the legality of the stop, focusing solely on evidence obtained by the officers after they had already stopped and detained Jacomet. Nevertheless, whether the officers' stop met constitutional and/or statutory standards is a question of law that this court reviews *de novo*. *State v*. *Krier*, 165 Wis.2d 673, 676, 478 N.W.2d 63 (Ct. App. 1991)

> F. **PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT** NOT THE DID **EVIDENCE** TO PRESENT SUFFICIENT ESTABLISH THE **OFFICERS** HAD THAT **REASONABLE SUSPICION TO MAKE A TERRY** STOP UNDER §968.24 OR A STOP FOR VIOLATION OF LAW OR ORDINANCE.

The plaintiff-respondent did not present sufficient evidence to establish that the officers had reasonable suspicion to make a *Terry* stop. This court has held that the state cannot use evidence obtained *after* a stop as the basis for legitimizing the stop itself. *State v. Meza*, 238 Wis.2d 840, 618 N.W.2d 273 (Ct. App. 2000) (unpublished). In *Meza*, a conservation warden witnessed Meza drive a car onto a hunting ground, the warden, in uniform, approached Meza with his flashlight, identified himself as an authority and began asking questions, noticing the odor of intoxicants. The state conceded that at the time the warden approached Meza, no reasonable suspicion existed to justify a *Terry* stop. *Id.* at \P 2. Instead, the state argued that "the legitimate basis to justify the stop occurred when the warden formed the opinion that Meza was operating while intoxicated." *Id.* at \P 7. In essence, the state was trying to argue that evidence obtained after the stop could be used to justify making the stop in the first place.

This court rejected that argument because "the *Terry* stop occurred before the warden told Meza he was suspected of OWI." *Id.* at \P 8. In other words, the state could not use evidence obtained by the warden after the stop to show that the stop itself was lawful under §968.24.

Here, the plaintiff-respondent relied entirely on evidence obtained by the officers after they made the stop to show the officers had probable cause to arrest Jacomet for operating while intoxicated. Indeed, the facts in the record overwhelmingly indicate that the officers had no reasonable suspicion to make a *Terry* stop and could not reasonably suspect Jacomet had violated the law before they made the stop.

CONCLUSION AND RELIEF REQUESTED

For all of the foregoing reasons, the Defendant-Appellant respectfully requests that this Court find, that the Defendant-Appellant was within the curtilage of the home; that he was entitled to a reasonable expectation of privacy, that based on the specific facts and circumstances in this case, warrantless entry was not justified; that warrantless entry did occur; and that the motion to suppress the evidence collected by the officer after the warrantless entry should be suppressed or in the alternative, that the trial court erred in determining the officers had probable cause to believe Jacomet was operating a vehicle while intoxicated.

Based on these findings, the Defendant-Appellant requests the court vacate the Judgment of Conviction and remand this matter with an order directing dismissal.

In the alternative, the Court should remand the matter to the trial court for further proceedings consistent with its findings.