Page 1 of 27

FILED 08-05-2022 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS**

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

Appeal Case No. 2021AP2186

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

JAY G. JACOMET,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE WAUKESHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE BRAD D. SCHIMEL, **PRESIDING**

Case No. 2020CT1165

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

Susan Lee Opper **District Attorney** Waukesha County

Chelsea Thompson **Assistant District Attorney** State Bar No. 1096710 Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

District Attorney's Office 515 W. Moreland Blvd. Room G-72 Waukesha, WI 53188-2486 (262) 548-7076

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

ARGUMENT

I. Captain Schroeder had a legitimate reason to be on the driveway, which was not an area of protected curtilage where Jacomet had a reasonable expectation of privacy, therefore there is no Fourth Amendment interest.

As the Supreme Court observed in Cal. v. Ciraolo, 476 U.S. 207, 212-13, 106 S. Ct. 1809, 90 L. Ed. 2d 210 (1986), "[t]he protection afforded the curtilage is essentially a protection of families and personal privacy in an area intimately linked to the home, both physically psychologically, where privacy expectations are heightened." A person enjoys "no legitimate expectation" that areas outside the curtilage "will remain free from warrantless intrusion by government officers." Oliver v. United States, 466 U.S. 170, 181, 104 S. Ct. 1735 (1984); see also Martwick, 2000 WI ¶29. The extent of the curtilage is determined by factors that bear upon whether an individual reasonably may expect the area in question should be treated as the home itself. U.S. v. *Dunn*, 480 U.S. 294, 300, 107 S. Ct. 1134 (1987), citing *Oliver*, 466 U.S. at 180.

In Dunn, the Supreme Court set forth four factors to be used in determining the scope of a home's curtilage: 1) the proximity of the area claimed to be curtilage to the home; 2) whether the area is included within an enclosure surrounding the home; 3) the nature of the uses to which the area is put; and 4) steps taken by the resident to protect the area from observation by passers-by. 480 U.S. at 301. The Court in *Dunn* explained that combining these factors would not necessarily produce a precise formula for correctly deciding all curtilage questions. Id. Rather, although these factors are relevant to the curtilage inquiry, the Court stressed that the "central component of this inquiry [i]s whether the area harbors the 'intimate activity associated with the 'sanctity of a man's home and the privacies of life." Id. at 300 (internal citations omitted).

The first factor considers the proximity of the area claimed to be curtilage to the home. While the shared driveway leads to the residence at 970 Waterville Road, the shared driveway itself begins approximately 300-400 feet away from the house (R. at 26: 8-9.)

The second *Dunn* factor considers whether the area is included within an enclosure surrounding the home. Neither the shared portion of this driveway nor the immediate area in front of Jacomet's garage is within any enclosure. There are no gates, no fences, or any other type of barrier between the public road and the driveway. Additionally, there are no gates or fences where the driveway breaks off to continue to the other residence and Jacomet's driveway continues (R. at 26:39.) This driveway is the only way for officers, delivery drivers, guests, and other residents to gain access to both residences.

The third consideration is the nature of the uses to which the area is put. There is nothing in the record to show that the driveway was put to any specific private use beyond parking vehicles on it. There was no evidence received that the driveway was used for any purpose intimately linked to the home.

Lastly, the record is devoid of particular steps to show Jacomet intended to protect the driveway from observation by police or any other passersby. The existence of a "No Trespassing" sign at the end of the driveway connected to the main road was discussed, however the record is clear the signs were posted by the homeowner's association, not specifically by Jacomet or his parents (R. at 79:10.) These signs are at the beginning of the shared driveway, which is an area open to the public. Certainly Jacomet cannot claim to reasonably have a privacy interest in the entire island, which is essentially what he is claiming if he argues the entire shared driveway is within his protected curtilage.

In *Oliver*, 466 U.S. at 182, the Supreme Court rejected the view that by taking steps to protect privacy in an open field, one establishes a legitimate expectation of privacy in that field. In a footnote, the Court commented that "the Framers did not intend that the Fourth Amendment should shelter criminal activity wherever persons with criminal intent choose to erect barriers and post 'No Trespassing' signs." *Id.* n.13.

However, as is clear from *Oliver*, a person's efforts to keep others off his land cannot, in and of itself, transform non-curtilage into curtilage. While erecting signs warning others to "Keep Off" private property may mean that an officer's entry onto such property is a trespass, the fact a trespass has occurred does not create a Fourth Amendment violation where no reasonable expectation of privacy exists. *See Conrad v. State*, 63 Wis. 2d 616, 218 N.W.2d 252 (1974).

Case 2021AP002186 Brief of Respondent Filed 08-05-2022 Page 15 of 27

Captain Schroeder testified that he knows from prior experience there are two residences on this island and it is a shared driveway to get to both residences (R. at 26:8-9.). Captain Schroeder first saw a subject in the lit garage at Jacomet's residence before he entered the driveway and had a line of sight before entering the driveway (R. at 26:9.) This supports the argument that the driveway was impliedly open to the public and could be observed by any member of the public from Waterville Road. Between the short period of time between the initial call and Captain Schroeder arriving at the driveway, the specific address given that the 911 caller saw the suspected intoxicated driver turn into, and the observation by Captain Schroeder of a subject walking in an open, lit up garage, it was reasonable for Captain Schroeder to believe the suspected intoxicated driver was at the end of the driveway.

A "search" or "seizure" worthy of Fourth Amendment protection occurs only "when the police infringe on an expectation of privacy that society considers reasonable." State v. Edgeberg, 188 Wis. 2d 339, 345, 524 N.W.2d 911 (Ct. App. 1994); United States v. Jacobsen, 466 U.S. 109, 113, 104 S. Ct. 1652, 80 L. Ed. 85 (1984). Whether a person has a reasonable expectation of privacy depends on (1) whether the individual has exhibited an actual, subjective expectation of privacy in the area inspected and in the item seized, and (2) whether society is willing to recognize such an expectation of privacy as reasonable. State v. Thompson, 222 Wis. 2d 179, 185-86 (Ct. App. 1998) (citations omitted). The defendant bears the burden of proof on the question of whether his subjective expectation of privacy was reasonable, and the burden of proof applicable is by a preponderance of the credible evidence. State v. Rewolinski, 159 Wis. 2d 1, 16, 464 N.W.2d 401 (1990). Jacomet offered no evidence in the record that he intended to keep his driveway private. State v. Orta, 2003 WI App 93, ¶¶ 12-13, 264 Wis. 2d 765, 663 N.W.2d 358 (law requires more than a simple subjective expectation of privacy; defendant must exhibit that subjective expectation in some fashion).

In Collins v. Virginia, 138 S. Ct. 1663, 201 L.Ed.2d 9 (2018), the Supreme Court addressed whether the particular section of the driveway where Collins' motorcycle was parked and subsequently searched was curtilage of the home. The Court determined it was curtilage. The Court found the motorcycle was inside of a "partially enclosed top portion of the driveway that abuts the house." Id. at 1671. This area where the motorcycle was parked was "beyond where a neighbor would venture, in an area 'intimately linked to the home ... where privacy expectation are most heightened." Id. at 1673 n.3, citing *Ciraolo*, 476 U.S. at 213.

In a recent unpublished decision by this Court, State v. Palmersheim, 2018 WI App 71, 384 Wis. 2d 633, 922 N.W.2d 323, the *Collins* case was discussed and applied to the facts of Palmersheim. This Court determined the officer's location when he attempted to stop Palmersheim was not in an area of curtilage and bore no similarity to the location of the officer in *Collins. Id.* 2018 WI ¶ 32.

The facts in this case more closely resemble the location in Palmersheim than in Collins as it relates specifically to the area of the driveway Jacomet claims is curtilage. The area of the garage in which Captain Schroeder made contact with Jacomet was visible from the public road. This was an open area in front of the garage void of any enclosures or other barriers, and there is nothing in the record to suggest this area in front of the garage was used for intimate activities of the home.

Even if a driveway is considered part of the home's curtilage, police with legitimate business may enter upon it and

¹ In *Palmersheim*, the officer received information from a citizen caller that the defendant was intoxicated. Upon arrival at the scene, the officer observed Palmersheim walking up the driveway towards the open garage attached to him home. The officer followed Palmersheim up the driveway to the garage in an attempt to stop him regarding the citizen caller's complaint of his poor driving.

upon any other part of the curtilage that remains open for use by the general public and may make visual observations from that vantage point. *Edgeberg*, *188* Wis. 2d at 346-47. That the area is within the curtilage does not itself bar all police observation.

The Fourth Amendment protection of the home has never been extended to require law enforcement officers to shield their eyes when passing by a home on public thoroughfares. Nor does the mere fact that an individual has taken measures to restrict some views of his activities preclude an officer's observations from a public vantage point where he has a right to be and which renders the activities clearly visible.

Cal. v. Ciraolo, 476 U.S. at 213.

Important to the curtilage analysis is the uncontroverted evidence that there was access to this shared driveway by a variety of people. As the trial court found, delivery drivers such as Amazon or UPS would not simply drop off packages at the end of the driveway for concerns of theft (R. at 26:40.) The delivery drivers would drive up the same driveway Captain Schroeder did and drop off the packages at the resident's homes. There are no affirmative actions taken here by Jacomet to demonstrate his expectation of privacy. The openness of the driveway, its visibility to anyone driving on the road coming from the public road but also for anyone driving to the residence further behind Jacomet's, and the absence of any evidence showing that the driveway was used for any intimate activities associated with the sanctity of the home show Jacomet could not have had an objectively reasonable expectation of privacy in his parent's driveway.

Moreover, Captain Schroeder had a prior lawful justification for travelling on the driveway because he was investigating an intoxicated driver complaint. It is important to the analysis that Captain Schroeder arrived at the residence a mere four minutes after the on-duty fire department employee reported Jacomet's vehicle to dispatch, and the information

Case 2021AP002186 Brief of Respondent Filed 08-05-2022 Page 18 of 27

from that phone call led Captain Schroeder to reasonably believe that the white SUV reported by the 911 caller had travelled down this driveway (R. at 26:17). Even if the garage door was closed when Captain Schroeder was at the edge of the driveway still on Waterville Road, there was nothing preventing the officer from driving up the shared driveway, parking his squad, and approaching the front door of the residence. "[T]here is no legal requirement of obtaining a warrant to knock on someone's door." *United States v. Collins*, 510 F.3d 697, 700 (7th Cir. 2007). Captain Schroeder had a legitimate purpose for being at that particular residence, which was to investigate the intoxicated driver complaint that he had reasonable suspicion had occurred.

Jacomet has failed to make the required showing that he had both a subject and an objectively reasonable expectation of privacy in the driveway that is shared with a neighbor. *State v. Rewolinski*, 159 Wis. 2d at 16. The trial court properly found the driveway was not protected curtilage and that Jacomet had no reasonable expectation of privacy in the driveway.

II. The defendant was not unlawfully seized when Officer Schroeder entered the driveway. Instead, the contact between Jacomet and Captain Schroeder was a "voluntary consensual encounter."

In *United States v. Mendenhall*, 446 U.S. 544, 554, 100 S. Ct. 1870, 64 L. Ed. 497 (1980), the United States Supreme Court ruled that "a person is 'seized' only when, by means of physical force or a show of authority, his freedom of movement is restrained" by the police. A "seizure" under the fourth amendment occurs only "if, in view of all the circumstances surrounding the incident, a reasonable person would have believed that he was not free to leave." *Mendenhall*, 446 U.S. at 554; *see also State v. Goyer*, 157 Wis. 2d 532, 536, 460 N.W.2d 424, 425 (Ct. App. 1990).

In essence, a "Terry" stop occurs "when an officer in some way restrains the liberty of a citizen by means of physical force or show of authority." *Fla. v. Bostick*, 501 U.S. 429, 434, 111 S. Ct. 2382, 115 L. Ed. 2d 389 (1991). A show of authority is generally defined as "conduct [which] would...communicate to a reasonable person that the person was not free to decline the officers' requests or otherwise terminate the encounter." *Id.* at 439.

However, a consensual encounter occurs when "the person to whom questions are put remains free to disregard the questions and walk away. *Mendenhall*, 446 U.S. at 554. No "fourth amendment issue arises in a consensual encounter because no seizure has occurred." *Goyer*, 157 Wis. 2d 532, 536, 460 N.W.2d 424 (Ct. App. 1990). In fact "there is nothing in the Constitution which prevents a policeman from addressing questions to anyone on the streets." *Terry*, 392 U.S. 1, 34, 88 S. Ct. 1868, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889 (1968). The defendant is not entitled to fourth amendment protections if the encounter between the defendant and the police is merely a consensual encounter, and not a seizure of some form.

A seizure occurs only when "a person submit[s] to a police show of authority [and] under all the circumstances surrounding the incident, a reasonable person would not have felt free to leave." *State v. Young*, 2006 WI 98, ¶ 37, 294 Wis. 2d 1, 717 N.W.2d 729, *citing Mendenhall*, 446 U.S. at 553; *see generally Cal. v. Hodari D*, 499 U.S. 621, 111 S. Ct. 1547 (1991) (where flight of a defendant indicates a person never submitted to a police show of authority and therefore is not seized at the time).

The question of whether an officer's actions constituted a show of authority is objective; the officer's subjective motivations are irrelevant. *State v. Luebeck*, 2006 WI App 87, ¶ 12, 292 Wis. 2d 748, 715 N.W.2d 639. The Court in *Mendenhall* stated that in analyzing whether a 'seizure' has

Case 2021AP002186 Brief of Respondent Filed 08-05-2022 Page 20 of 27

occurred, "the subjective intention of [the police]...is irrelevant except insofar as that may have been conveyed to the [defendant]." *Id.* at 555 n. 6.

Police can use information gathered during a consensual encounter to justify a Terry stop if they gather sufficient information to develop reasonable suspicion during the course of the consensual encounter to believe that criminal activity may be afoot. *Goyer*, 157 Wis. 2d at 537.

It is important to note that encounters between police and citizens under circumstances in which a person, as a practical matter, lacks the freedom to leave or otherwise avoid the encounter does not necessarily constitute a seizure. *See Bostick*, 501 U.S. at 436; *see also Fla. v. Royer*, 460 U.S. 491, 103 S. Ct. 1319, 75 L. Ed. 229 (1983). A "seizure does not occur simply because a police officer approaches an individual and asks a few questions" and that it is only "when the officer, by means of physical force or show of authority, has in some way restrained the liberty of a citizen may we conclude that a seizure has occurred." *Bostick*, 501 U.S. at 434, citing *Terry* 392 U.S. at 16.

Furthermore, the disclosure of an official police purpose for the encounter followed by questioning or requests of the defendant does not equate to a "show of authority" sufficient to convert a consensual encounter into a seizure. *See Bostick*, 501 U.S. at 434; *see also United States v. Drayton*, 536 U.S. 194, 122 S. Ct. 2105, 153 L. Ed. 2d 242 (2002) (concluding that no seizure occurred when police boarded a bus, announced their identity and presence, and questioned passengers despite the lack of an affirmative warning to passengers that they could refuse to cooperate; it being sufficient that the officers gave passengers no reason to believe they must answer, could not leave the bus or otherwise terminate the encounter).

Case 2021AP002186 Brief of Respondent Filed 08-05-2022 Page 21 of 27

Some examples of "circumstances that might indicate a seizure, even where the person did not attempt to leave, would be the threatening presence of several officers, the display of a weapon by an officer, some physical touching of the person of the citizen, or the use of language or tone of voice indicating that compliance with the officer's request might be compelled." *Mendenhall* at 554, citing *Terry*, 392 U.S. at 19. In the "absence of some such evidence, otherwise inoffensive contact between a member of the public and the police cannot, as a matter of law, amount to a seizure of that person." *Id*.

The *Mendenhall* Court noted that the "purpose of the Fourth Amendment is not to eliminate all contact between police and the citizenry, but to prevent arbitrary and oppressive interference by enforcement officials with the privacy and personal security of individuals." 446 U.S. at 554-55, citing *United States v. Martinez-Fuerte*, 428 U.S. 543, 554, 96 S.Ct. 3074, 49 L. Ed. 2d 1116 (1976) (internal quotations omitted). Even if an officer walks up to an individual seated in a vehicle located in a public place, this alone does not then constitute a seizure. *See* 4 Wayne R. LaFave, <u>Search and Seizure</u> § 9.4(a), 419-20 (4th ed. 2004). As a matter of policy:

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